立法會 Legislative Council

LC Paper No. CB(1)2543/02-03 (These minutes have been seen by the Administration)

Ref: CB1/PL/FA/1

Panel on Financial Affairs

Minutes of special meeting held on Friday, 13 June 2003 at 10:00 am in Conference Room A of Legislative Council Building

Members present: Hon Ambrose LAU Hon-chuen, GBS, JP (Chairman)

Hon Henry WU King-cheong, BBS, JP (Deputy Chairman)

Hon Kenneth TING Woo-shou, JP Hon James TIEN Pei-chun, GBS, JP

Hon Albert HO Chun-yan Hon LEE Cheuk-yan

Dr Hon Eric LI Ka-cheung, GBS, JP (also as a presenter of Item I) Dr Hon David LI Kwok-po, GBS, JP

Hon NG Leung-sing, JP Hon James TO Kun-sun Hon CHAN Kam-lam, JP Hon SIN Chung-kai

Dr Hon Philip WONG Yu-hong

Hon Jasper TSANG Yok-sing, GBS, JP

Hon Emily LAU Wai-hing, JP Hon Abraham SHEK Lai-him, JP

Hon MA Fung-kwok, JP

Non-Panel member :

attending

Dr Hon David CHU Yu-lin, JP

Member absent : Hon Bernard CHAN, JP

Public officers Attending

: Agenda Items I & II

Mr Tony MILLER, JP

Permanent Secretary for Financial Services and the

Treasury (Financial Services)

Agenda Item II

Mr Frederick MA

Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury

Attendance by Invitation

: Agenda Item I

Hong Kong Society of Accountants

Mr David SUN

President

Mr Roger BEST

Vice-President

Mr Paul CHAN

Vice-President

Dr LEE Kai-fat

Registrar & Secretary-General

Ms Winnie CHEUNG

Senior Director

Agenda Item II

Expert Group to Review the Operation of the Securities and Futures Market Regulatory Structure

Mr Alan CAMERON

Chairman

Dr Raymond CH'IEN

Member

Securities and Futures Commission

Mr Ashley ALDER

Executive Director, Corporate Finance

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited

Mr Paul CHOW Chief Executive

Ms Karen LEE

Head - Listing, Regulation and Risk Management

Clerk in attendance: Ms Connie SZETO

Chief Assistant Secretary (1)4

Staff in attendance: Ms Pauline NG

Assistant Secretary General 1

Mr KAU Kin-wah

Assistant Legal Adviser 6

Ms Rosalind MA

Senior Assistant Secretary (1)9

Ms Christina SHIU Legislative Assistant

Action

I Briefing on the Hong Kong Society of Accountants' Private Member's Bill on amendments to the Professional Accountants Ordinance (LC Paper Nos. CB(1)1908/02-03(01) & (02))

Briefing on the proposed legislative amendments

<u>Dr Eric LI</u>, in his capacity of the sponsor of the Private Member's Bill on amendments to the Professional Accountants Ordinance (PAO), briefly set out the four major components of the legislative proposals initiated by the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (HKSA). These included: changing the title of HKSA to the "Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants" while the Chinese title remained unchanged; improving the existing regime on the regulation of accountants; proposing an immunity provision covering the acts of persons performing statutory functions in good faith under the PAO; and providing for certain technical amendments to the PAO and the subsidiary legislation.

2. At the Chairman's invitation, Mr David SUN, President of HKSA, highlighted a series of measures proposed by the HKSA in late January 2003 to

open up its governance structure and to improve the present regulatory process enshrined in the law. The proposals were summarized below:

- (a) increase the lay members and Government appointed officials in the HKSA Council from two to six;
- (b) expand the membership of an Investigation Committee instigated by the HKSA Council from three to five, altering its composition with majority of members (including the chairman) being lay persons;
- (c) alter the composition of the five-member Disciplinary Committee instigated by the HKSA Council, with the majority of members (including the chairman) being lay persons; and
- (d) as a variation of (b) above, establish an Independent Investigation Board (IIB) to deal with alleged accounting, auditing and/or ethical irregularities related to companies listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.

Mr David SUN advised that the HKSA was anxious to push ahead with the above reform proposals through legislative amendments and had taken the initiative to include the proposals in (a) to (c) above in the Private Member's Bill to be sponsored by Dr Eric LI. The proposal of establishing an IIB outlined in (d) above was however not included in the Private Member's Bill as the legislative changes to effect such a proposal would be the subject of a separate consultation and legislation by the Administration.

3. At the Chairman's invitation, the Permanent Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury (Financial Services) (PSFS) set out the Administration's views on the proposals of the HKSA. He complimented the HKSA for its initiative to improve the existing regulatory regime for the accounting profession, with full recognition of public expectations for an effective, transparent and accountable regime in line with international developments. The Administration supported HKSA's proposals for legislative amendments. In relation to the IIB proposal, while the Administration considered that it was in the right direction, given the implications of the proposal, in particular, relating to the funding arrangements for IIB, the Administration considered it appropriate to consult the public before arriving at a decision. PSFS advised that the IIB proposal would form part of the consultation paper to be issued in July/August 2003, which would also seek public views on the proposed establishment of the Financial Reporting Review Panel.

Discussion with members

Composition of the HKSA Council

- 4. Mr Henry WU noted that according to HKSA's proposal, the Chief Executive (CE) was empowered to appoint four non-accountant lay members to the HKSA Council in addition to the two ex-officials. As there was no arrangement to stagger the period of appointment, there was a possibility that all lay members were new to the work of the Council in a new term. In this connection, Mr WU expressed concern about the continuity of the work of the HKSA Council and asked whether the election and appointment of members would be arranged in a staggered manner so that not all members would be replaced at the same time. Mr WU also pointed out that there was no guarantee that CE would appoint up to the maximum number of lay members.
- 5. Mr David SUN advised that under HKSA's proposal, the number of elected members would increase from 12 to 14. In addition to the 14 elected members, it was also proposed that the immediate past president be appointed to serve a term of one year, without going through election, to provide continuity to the work of the Council. If HKSA's proposal was endorsed, the HKSA Council would comprise a maximum of 23 members, with a maximum of 17 professional accountants and six lay members (including two ex-officials a representative of the Financial Secretary and the Director of Accounting Services). Appointment periods of the lay members could be staggered to provide continuity. PSFS added that the Administration intended to make full use of this appointment mechanism to appoint four lay members to the HKSA Council.

Independent Investigation Board

- 6. Mr Henry WU expressed concern about the operation of the proposed IIB, in particular, the mechanism to trigger off an IIB investigation. He opined that as the majority of the members on the HKSA Council were professional accountants, he was concerned about the degree of independence of IIB if investigation of alleged cases was to be decided by the HKSA Council. In reply, Mr David SUN said that the idea was to establish an IIB as a statutory body under the PAO that would take on referral cases of alleged accounting, auditing and/or ethical irregularities of professional accountants related to listed companies for investigation without routing through the HKSA. The composition of IIB had yet to be decided.
- 7. As to Mr Henry WU's concern over the role of other market regulators in investigation of cases of alleged misconduct and irregularities, <u>PSFS</u> explained that as provided under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (SFO), the Securities and Futures Commission (SFC) could refer relevant cases to the HKSA for investigation and disciplinary actions. The investigation and disciplinary

proceedings taken by the HKSA in accordance with the PAO would not replace or impede the necessary actions to be taken by SFC under SFO. <u>PSFS</u> confirmed that the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (HKEx), as a market regulator, would also refer cases to the HKSA for investigation and/disciplinary actions, where appropriate.

- 8. <u>Mr James TIEN</u> sought clarification on the difference between the present investigation mechanism administered by the HKSA and that of the proposed IIB. Given the fact that the majority of HKSA members were working in companies incorporated in overseas jurisdictions, <u>Mr TIEN</u> opined that the proposed IIB might not be able to investigate cases involving overseas parties or with the accounting/auditing work conducted outside Hong Kong. <u>Dr Philip WONG</u> also expressed concern about the possible overlap of the investigation duties undertaken by SFC, the HKSA Investigation Committee and the proposed IIB.
- 9. In reply, Mr David SUN advised that at present, all cases of alleged misconduct or breaches of professional standards by professional accountants were investigated by the HKSA at its own cost. In the present set-up, there were two panels, one comprising entirely members of the accounting profession and the other with lay members, to appoint committees on investigation and disciplinary cases respectively. The scope of these committees was confined to alleged misconduct or breaches of professional standards by its members. They could not carry out comprehensive investigation for cases of alleged accounting/auditing irregularities where other parties, such as the directors of listed companies, were involved. The proposal of establishing an IIB to deal with such alleged cases relating to listed companies could fill the existing gap in the terms of investigation powers.
- 10. <u>Dr Eric LI</u> added that the Administration could investigate and take legal actions against members of the HKSA with the powers given under other legislation such as the SFO and the Companies Ordinance. Cases involving breaches of professional standard or misconduct would also be referred to the HKSA for disciplinary actions. The Investigation Committee appointed by the HKSA would not investigate alleged criminal offences but would await until the court had given its judgement and the case had been referred to the HKSA. The HKSA had the legal obligation to take necessary disciplinary actions against its member if he/she was convicted of a criminal offence. HKSA members who felt aggrieved by the decision of the Disciplinary Committee could appeal to the court but other statutory bodies such as the SFC could not challenge or change the decision.
- 11. Referring to recent incidents involving falsified financial reports of listed companies in overseas jurisdictions, <u>Mr CHAN Kam-lam</u> sought information on the percentage of criminal cases among the total number of misconduct/breaches cases handled by the HKSA in the past years. In reply, <u>Mr David SUN</u> said that the HKSA did not have the requested information at present as decisions had yet to be

Action - 7 -

made by the Investigation Committee on cases involving serious misconduct. He further explained that given the complexity of the cases under investigation, the HKSA would not be able to comment at this stage whether the alleged misconduct or breaches would be substantiated or the reasons behind the increase in number of such cases in recent years.

Process of the proposed legislative amendments

- 12. Mr James TIEN doubted the need for the HKSA to initiate the legislative amendments under a Private Member's Bill and felt that these could be incorporated in the amendments to be introduced by the Administration later on. In response, Mr David SUN and Dr Eric LI advised that the HKSA intended to expedite the legislation process of its proposed measures so that it could respond quickly to international developments and public expectations of the accounting profession. As the proposal of IIB had to be further considered after the public consultation in July/August, the HKSA planned to put in place the proposed improvement measures as soon as possible by introducing the Private Member's Bill into the LegCo.
- 13. Mr SIN Chung-kai expressed support for the legislative proposals of the HKSA in principle and commended the HKSA for its initiatives in working out measures to improve the effectiveness and transparency of its self-regulatory regime. He however considered that the process had taken too long and there was still no concrete timetable for the implementation of the IIB. Pointing out that the Democratic Party supported the proposal of establishing an IIB, Mr SIN sought HKSA's view on the source of funding for the operation of the proposed IIB.
- 14. In response, <u>Mr David SUN</u> said that the HKSA had proposed that the IIB should be established with separate funding outside the HKSA, which might be arranged through market-financing or government subsidies.
- 15. Regarding government subsidies, <u>PSFS</u> advised members that it was a traditional practice for professional bodies in Hong Kong to be self-regulated with the regulatory activities funded by the market. The Administration would remain open-minded in taking forward the IIB proposal during the public consultation while at the same time mindful of the aforesaid traditional practice in considering any proposal for government subsidies for the operation of the IIB.
- 16. <u>Mr SIN Chung-kai</u> opined that while he appreciated the need to consult the public on the legislative proposals, he cautioned further delay in addressing the deficiencies in the present regime. <u>Ms Emily LAU</u> pointed out that the regulatory regime of the accounting profession should be open, effective, transparent and able to inspire the confidence of the investing public. <u>Ms LAU</u> urged the Administration to expedite the legislative process for the establishment of the IIB though she was aware that the investigation and disciplinary mechanisms for misconduct and breaches involving the accounting profession might not be

Action - 8 -

effective enough to deter dishonourable acts even after the establishment of the IIB.

II Discussion on the Report by the Expert Group to Review the Operation of the Securities and Futures Market Regulatory Structure (LC Paper Nos. CB(1)1199/02-03, 1861/02-03(01) & 1908/02-03(03))

Briefing on the Report

- 17. The Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury (SFST) recapped the background for the appointment of the Expert Group to Review the Operation of the Securities and Futures Market Regulatory Structure (the Expert Group). The Expert Group was appointed by the Financial Secretary (FS) in late 2002 to follow up on the recommendation of the Panel of Inquiry on the Penny Stocks Incident to review the three-tier regulatory structure relating to listing matters. While the general direction recommended by the Expert Group was appropriate, the Administration recognized that the specific implementation issues would need to be spelt out clearly and considered carefully to facilitate community-wide consensus building. In this connection, the Administration would embark on a public consultation exercise on the recommendations of the Expert Group on specific issues relating to the listing regime. **SFST** welcomed members to give views in this regard. **SFST** assured members that consultation would not in any way impede the on-going measures to improve the listing regime, including the implementation of the Corporate Governance Action Plan presented to the Panel in January 2003.
- 18. At the invitation of the Chairman, Mr Alan CAMERON, Chairman of the Expert Group, briefed members on the work of the Expert Group and its major recommendations. He pointed out that the Expert Group had conducted extensive consultation during its course of work and met different parties including the Government in its study of the three-tiered structure. The observations and conclusions outlined in the Report represented a distillation of the views expressed, and the recommendations were unanimous. Mr CAMERON advised that as the issues under study involved the role and functions of HKEx, which was a listed company, the Expert Group considered it more appropriate to share its tentative findings with the Government only but not any other parties. In explaining the recommendations of the Expert Group, he drew members' attention to the following:
 - (a) There was concern that the decline in the quality of new listings on both the Main Board and the Growth Enterprise Market would affect the standing of Hong Kong's securities market as a whole and could lead to lower valuations, reduced liquidity and a higher cost of capital in the long term.

- (b) About 80% of the companies listed in Hong Kong were incorporated overseas and were governed primarily by laws in those jurisdictions. This had made corporate regulation difficult. There was general support for providing the necessary statutory backing to the Listing Rules so as to ensure their regulatory effectiveness. The Expert Group however kept an open mind on how to give "teeth" to the Listing Rules.
- (c) The recommendation to allow the listing function to be performed by a new division of SFC, to be known as the Hong Kong Listing Authority (HKLA), would free HKEx from its existing listing function and allow it to concentrate on its core commercial activities as a listed company. HKEx could charge fees for admission to trading on the stock exchange, as a commercial service, at levels that should render the transfer of the listing function bottom line neutral to the company.
- 19. Mr CAMERON said that while the recommendations of the Expert Group would not be the only solution to the problem of the present listing regime, the Expert Group considered this feasible having regard to the findings of its study and views of the respondents. He also pointed out that the perceived problem of concentration of regulatory power in SFC could be addressed by putting in place adequate checks and balances. Members might also recommend additional checks and balances to the power of SFC in overseeing the listing function.

Discussion with members

Public consultation on regulation of listing matters

- 20. Mr Jame TIEN said that the Liberal Party was of the view that the regulation of listing matters was important to Hong Kong's role as a major financial centre in the region. He was disappointed with FS's immediate endorsement of the Expert Group's recommendations shortly upon the publication of its Report and opined that public consultation on the implementation was necessary.
- 21. Mr Henry WU, however, doubted whether the Administration had a pre-determined stance on the regulatory structure governing listing matters as FS announced on the same day of the publication of the Expert Group Report that the direction recommended was appropriate. He opined that the proposed public consultation would not be a genuine one if the Administration had in fact decided to take forward the recommendations of the Expert Group.
- 22. <u>Ms Emily LAU</u> criticized the Administration for handling the recommendations of the Expert Group in an indecisive manner, with FS announcing endorsement of the recommendations immediately upon the

<u>Action</u> - 10 -

publication of the Report but subsequently slowing down the implementation for public consultation. <u>Ms LAU</u> considered the delayed implementation of measures to improve the listing regime undesirable for the development of corporate governance in Hong Kong. As there was an overwhelming support for the removal of the listing function from HKEx, <u>Ms LAU</u> urged the Administration to expedite the consultation process for early implementation of the recommendation.

- 23. In response, <u>SFST</u> said that though the general direction recommended by the Expert Group was considered appropriate, the Administration recognized that public consultation was necessary in view of the far-reaching implications of the recommendations. In this connection, the Administration had outlined a proposed framework for consultation and invited members' views in this regard. <u>SFST</u> stressed that the Administration kept an open mind on measures to be taken to improve the listing regime. The Administration's objective was to improve market quality with a view to enhancing the competitiveness of Hong Kong as an international financial centre and to strengthen its position as the premier capital formation centre of China. He assured members that consultation did not imply inaction, and would in no way impede the on-going measures to improve the listing regime.
- 24. Mr CHAN Kam-lam noted that the introduction of legislative amendments to LegCo was scheduled for end 2004. He considered the consultation process too long and urged the Administration to complete the consultation process and implement the improvement measures within 18 to 24 months. SFST advised that the present timetable was still tentative and subject to revision. He undertook to relay Mr CHAN's view to FS for expediting the consultation work.
- 25. Mr SIN Chung-kai, however, opined that given the far-reaching implications of the recommendations by the Expert Group, ample time should be allowed for the community and relevant stakeholders to give their views on the specific implementation during the consultation. He therefore did not agree with Mr CHAN Kam-lam's view of expediting the consultation and sought the view of SFC and HKEx on the timetable for consultation. In response, Mr Ashley ALDER, the Executive Director of SFC, said that SFC supported the consultation for determination of the implementation details for improvement measures to the listing regime. SFC would be committed to doing all the necessary work to ensure that the reform measures implemented after the consultation would help improve the quality of the market. Mr Paul CHOW, the Chief Executive of HKEx, said that HKEx endeavoured to cooperate with the Government to facilitate the smooth completion of the consultation within the set time frame.

Work of the Expert Group

26. Mr Henry WU expressed grave concern about the personal comments made by Mr Peter CLARKE, a member of the Expert Group, in his letter dated

Admin

- 1 June 2003 to the Panel Chairman. He opined that certain points in the letter involved unfair criticisms of various parties and sought the view of the Expert Group Chairman in this regard. In reply, Mr Alan CAMERON said that while he had seen the letter before it was released, it did not imply that he shared all of Mr CLARKE's opinions, and he would not give his endorsement to all of the comments made in this letter. However, he would be happy to respond to members' concern on particular points raised in the letter.
- Responding to Mr Henry WU's enquiry on the Expert Group's 27. communication with the FS in the course of its work, Mr Alan CAMERON said that he met with FS and other Government officials on several occasions when he was in Hong Kong to update the Administration on the Expert Group's work progress. When the Expert Group met with the FS in December 2002, there was not yet any draft report. It was only in March 2003 that the Expert Group had a draft. The remarks made in Mr CLARKE's letter only recorded the fact that the Expert Group conveyed to the Government the message of the overwhelming support for the removal of the listing function from HKEx and strong support for its transfer to SFC in December 2002, as part of a progress update on the Expert Group's work. He said that while the Government provided written submission as well as secretariat support to the Expert Group, it did not give any directive to the Expert Group. Mr CAMERON advised that since the Expert Group had disbanded upon submission of its Report in March, members of the Group had no access to any documents relating to its work and he was only briefing the Panel on the basis of the Report.
- 28. In reply to Mr Henry WU's enquiry on whether all respondents' views had been considered in a fair manner by the Expert Group, Mr CAMERON explained that the Expert Group Report had not provided the details of all the views and proposals considered as it would become too lengthy if they had decided to do so. He pointed out that the Expert Group was not engaged in a judicial process to deliberate a judgement on the issues concerned. Its major task was to identify the problems in the current regulatory structure and make recommendations for improvement which it considered appropriate for Hong Kong.
- 29. Mr SIN Chung-kai also expressed concern about the extent of influence the Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau (FSTB) had on the work of the Expert Group. SFST reiterated that FSTB was obliged to provide information on the three-tier regulatory structure to the Expert Group, but it had never in any way directed or set a pre-determined stance for the Expert Group. The work of the Expert Group was independent. As to the request of Mr SIN for a copy of the written submission from FSTB to the Expert Group, SFST undertook to consider this after the meeting.

(*Post-meeting note*: A copy of the written submission from FSTB to the Expert Group was circulated to members vide LC Paper No. CB(1)2146/02-03 on 4 July 2003.)

- 30. Pointing out that the securities and futures market of Hong Kong was unique in that majority of the listed companies were incorporated in overseas jurisdictions, Mr James TIEN opined that direct adoption of regulatory models from overseas markets would be impracticable. He suggested that the committee/authority responsible for listing approval should be composed of both SFC and HKEx representatives, with the Chairman appointed by FS or CE. It would not be a matter of concern whether the committee/authority was formed under SFC or HKEx.
- 31. <u>Dr Raymond CH'IEN</u> responded that the work of the Expert Group was to examine all the relevant issues, identify the problems and recommend the optimal solutions to the problems. Nevertheless, the Expert Group appreciated that in implementation, compromise might be necessary having regard to the relevant factors involved. The Expert Group was not in a position to give weightings to these factors and the decision should be made by the community of Hong Kong as a whole. <u>Mr Alan CAMERON</u> added that the Expert Group had completed its mission and the extent of involvement of HKEx in listing matters would be decided through the process of public consultation. <u>Mr James TIEN</u> commented that compromise was commonly made for achieving the best arrangements having regard to the circumstances in Hong Kong.

Proposal of HKEx

- 32. Responding to Ms Emily LAU's concern about the engagement of consultants by HKEx for preparation of submissions to the Expert Group and the involvement of the HKEx Board of Directors (BoD) in the process, Mr Paul CHOW explained that BoD convened a number of meetings to deliberate on the submissions to be provided to the Expert Group and each of these submissions were endorsed by BoD. Mr Paul CHOW clarified the view of HKEx on the improvement of the listing regime, as follows:
 - (a) HKEx agreed with the observation of the Expert Group that the quality of the market should be improved. This would require the joint effort of all parties involved, including the regulator, intermediaries, sponsors and HKEx. HKEx had been working towards this goal through strengthening staffing support for the listing division and improving the listing procedures etc. Nevertheless, HKEx's enforcement efforts were constrained by the limited power for sanctions it could impose on the companies which had committed misconduct.
 - (b) To encourage on-going compliance, making the part of the Listing Rules relating to on-going disclosure statutory obligation would be more effective than the Expert Group's suggestion of giving statutory backing for all the Listing Rules. The statutory part of the

Action - 13 -

Listing Rules on disclosure requirements could be administered by SFC as the statutory enforcement agent.

- (c) HKEx believed that a statutory regulator was by nature less well-equipped to perform the market development and marketing functions than an exchange. The present Listing Committee of HKEx worked entirely independently and did not consider HKEx's commercial interest. There was not one single case that had proved the existence of the Listing Rules had been compromised because of HKEx's commercial interest. The present arrangement preserved the operational interface between listed companies and the operator of the market, i.e. HKEx, as well as providing flexibility and responsiveness of the Listing Rules to changes in market practice and regulatory needs. The same arrangement was adopted in majority of the markets overseas except for the United Kingdom (UK) which the Expert Group chose to follow.
- (d) The current three-tier regulatory structure for listing matters had worked effectively in the past decade and one of the advantages of the current structure was that it provided an extra layer of checks and balances. The proposed transfer of the listing function from HKEx to SFC would give rise to the concern of power concentration in SFC, which would be empowered to make rules for listing, perform listing function, take enforcement actions and deal with appeal cases.
- (e) The perceived conflict of interests of HKEx in performing the listing function as a commercial entity was not a material one as the listing approvals were given by the Listing Committee, comprising 25 members among which 24 were independent market-experienced professionals. Nevertheless, HKEx recognized the perception problem and proposed to the Expert Group the formation of a HKEx subsidiary company to take up the listing function. HKEx believed that this proposal could address the concerns for improvement in the regulatory structure for listing matters while at the same time preserving the merit of a market-based regulation framework for the long-term development of the market.
- 33. <u>Dr David CHU</u> sought the view of the Expert Group on HKEx's proposal of providing statutory backing to part of the Listing Rules as set out in paragraph 32 (b) and (c) above. In reply, <u>Mr Alan CAMERON</u> advised that the principle for providing statutory backing to the Listing Rules was to enhance the effectiveness and enforcement of the rules. The proposal of HKEx would be an alternative to be further considered during the upcoming consultation for implementation of the Expert Group's recommendations.

Conflict of interests

- 34. Ms Emily LAU did not agree with HKEx that the formation of a subsidiary company could adequately address the concerns about conflict of interests in HKEx in performing the listing function. Ms LAU also sought clarification from the Expert Group as to how it considered the overwhelming support for making significant changes to the listing regime from its respondents mentioned in paragraph 51 of its Report would logically converge into the set of propositions in paragraph 53. She questioned whether all respondents except HKEx were concerned about the conflict of interests in HKEx's performance of the listing function and agreed with the Expert Group's recommendation of removing the function from HKEx.
- 35. In response, Mr Alan CAMERON said that while there was overwhelming support for making significant changes to the listing regime, the recommendations of the Expert Group were what it considered appropriate in addressing the concerns and problems of the current listing regime. He advised that he did not recall any respondents explicitly commenting that there were no conflict of interests in the current regime yet it was the fact that some respondents supported the continuation of the present arrangements for listing.
- 36. <u>Dr Raymond CH'IEN</u> added that the perceived conflict of interests, even not material, coupled with the increasing trend of listed companies with short history causing regulatory concerns, would have adverse impact on the credibility and the long-term development of Hong Kong as the premier financial centre in the region. The Expert Group's recommendation to transfer the listing function to SFC would remove the perceived conflict of interests while at the same time maintain efficiency of the listing regime as SFC was considered equally competent to take up the responsibilities. <u>Dr CH'IEN</u> said that the Expert Group fully recognized the need of consensus for reform but was equally aware of the fact that sometimes a consensus would be impossible when stakeholders' interests would be affected in the reform and under such circumstances, the majority view of the community should be taken.
- 37. <u>Dr David CHU</u> remarked that in addressing conflict of interests, it was necessary to note that in addition to commercial interests, other interests such as power would be equally attractive to market participants. <u>Mr Alan CAMERON</u> responded that the Expert Group was not looking into individual conflict of interests in the technical sense but rather the conflict of interests which existed as a result of the inappropriate regulatory structure and system that was fundamentally flawed.

Quality of market

- 38. <u>Dr Philip WONG</u> supported the Administration's determination to improve market quality. However, he was disappointed with the Expert Group Report which did not give a clear definition of market quality. Referring to paragraph 11 of the Report, <u>Dr WONG</u> said that he did not agree that the large number of new listings in Hong Kong in contrary to the global trend in 2002 implied problems in market quality. He did not agree with the point in paragraph 12 of the Report that relatively small number of listings sponsored by global investment banks represented low quality of the listings in Hong Kong. In this connection, <u>Dr WONG</u> sought information from the Expert Group on how it would assess the quality of a market. <u>Dr WONG</u> also doubted the propriety of the recommendation of transferring the listing function from the HKEx to SFC.
- 39. In reply, Mr Alan CAMERON clarified that the Expert Group was not commenting that Hong Kong had a poor quality market nor was it of the view that the current regulatory regime would have adverse impact on the credibility of the market. However, given the Government's objective to enhance the role of Hong Kong as a leading financial centre, the standard which ought to be required was relatively high and the quality of listings coming to HKEx in recent years was not consistent with such a high standard as they were of little interest to international sponsors or investors. He explained that the quality of market was assessed through examining factors such as market liquidity, genuineness of the listed companies in raising funds through listing and spread of shareholdings of the listed companies. There was rising concern about the quality of listings in Hong Kong as the recent development in listings was different from the rest of the world. Mr CAMERON pointed out that if a large number of listings in a market failed to attract trading interest, the market liquidity would be low and it would not be a competitive market.
- 40. Mr LEE Cheuk-yan sought the Expert Group's view on the reasons for the declining trend of the quality of new listings in recent years and in what way this could be improved if the listing function was transferred from HKEx to SFC. Mr LEE opined that measures to ensure on-going compliance after listing would be more effective in quality control than those to strengthen the gate-keeping mechanism for listing.
- 41. <u>Dr Raymond CH'IEN</u> responded that continuous quality control of new listings would depend on the incentives for these companies to exercise self-discipline. He pointed out that the provision of statutory backing to the Listing Rules would be one feasible way of providing such incentives. SFC as a statutory body would be in a better position than HKEx, which was a commercial entity, to administer these statutory provisions for listing. Furthermore, as more Mainland companies were seeking for listing in Hong Kong, the relationship between SFC and the China Securities Regulatory Commission (CSRC) would

become increasingly important. It was not possible for HKEx, as a commercial entity, to establish the same kind of close working relationship and information sharing with CSRC as it was for SFC as a statutory regulator. Dr CH'IEN also pointed out that despite the undoubted quality and integrity of the members of the Listing Committee, the present system of their service as part-time volunteers working under considerable time constraints to handle the voluminous cases seeking listing was undesirable as the resources allocated to listing approvals were inadequate.

42. In response to Mr LEE's further comment on the need for giving adequate power to the Listing Rules, <u>Dr Raymond CH'IEN</u> said that the decision would be in the hands of the Legislative Council and the Government. <u>SFST</u> pointed out that the effective roll out of SFO on 1 April 2003 had strengthened the enforcement capability of SFC over corporate misconduct and rules to deter false and misleading disclosure.

Checks and balances to the power of SFC

- 43. <u>Dr Eric LI</u> was concerned about the checks and balances to the power of SFC if it took up the listing function from HKEx. Noting that the recommendations of the Expert Group modeled on the UK regulatory structure, <u>Dr LI</u> pointed out that there was strong parliamentary oversight of the regulatory body in the UK, which was very different from the circumstances in Hong Kong where the Legislature had no power to monitor the work of SFC. He opined that the Expert Group's recommendation of transferring the listing function to SFC would lead to concentration of power in SFC and was unacceptable unless proper checks and balances to the power similar to that in the UK were in place. <u>Dr David CHU</u> also expressed similar concern about the concentration of power in SFC.
- 44. In response, Mr Alan CAMERON referred members to paragraph 3.33 and 3.34 of the Report setting out the set of external checks and balances on SFC's exercise of its powers in the current system, which was considered effective by the Expert Group. In addition, if the listing function was transferred to SFC, parties aggrieved by HKLA's decisions on listing matters could appeal to the Listing Panel, and had further recourse by means of judicial review. He said that additional checks and balances might be introduced if members considered appropriate. Dr Raymond CH'IEN supplemented that while the Expert Group had seen a worrying trend of deterioration in the quality of the new companies listed and had thus recommended what it considered as the optimal solution to the problem, the decision on implementation of the recommendations would be made by the Government in consultation with the community.

<u>Action</u> - 17 -

Way forward

45. <u>Ms Emily LAU</u> suggested that the Administration should update the Panel on the progress of the public consultation in September 2003. <u>The Chairman</u> directed the Secretariat to follow up Ms LAU's request with the Administration after the meeting. The Panel would schedule the item for discussion at a later meeting subject to the advice of the Administration.

(*Post-meeting note:* The Administration's response to Ms Emily LAU's request was circulated to members vide LC Paper Nos. CB(1)2146/02-03 and CB(1)2172/02-03 on 4 and 7 July 2003 respectively (the English and Chinese versions were issued under separate covers).)

III Any other business

46. There being no other business, the meeting ended at 1:05 pm.

Council Business Division 1
<u>Legislative Council Secretariat</u>
3 October 2003